TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In May 1996, the Petitioner, Robert Louis Givens, pled no contest to three counts of lewd and lascivious conduct, was sentenced to five years prison, and in January 1999, completed that sentence. (R293) On June 18, 2001 the Pinellas County State Attorney charged him with failing to report as a sexual offender, contrary to Florida Statute 943.0435, after a police encounter on April 23, 2001. (R4-5,293) On January 4, 2002, Mr. Givens filed a motion to dismiss, amended on February 20, 2002. (R7-37)

On March 12, 2002, the Honorable John A. Schaefer, Circuit Judge, conducted a hearing on the motion. (R339-62) On April 10, 2002, Judge Schaefer entered a written order denying the motion(s) to dismiss. (R293-302) On June 13, 2002, Mr. Givens entered a plea of no contest in exchange for a sentence of three years probation. (R303-4) On June 19, 2002, a timely notice of appeal was filed in the Second District Court of Appeal. (R313)

On July 30, 2003, the Second District issued an opinion rejecting the Petitioner's contention that the sexual offender registration and notification requirements violated due process and/or "the Ex Post Facto clause."¹ See Appendix, copy of Givens v. State, 851 So. 2d 813 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003).

Petitioner served a notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction on August 6, 2003, and his brief on jurisdiction follows.

¹ It appeared to be uncontested in the circuit court that the act requiring registration was passed both after Mr. Givens entered his pleas and after he began serving his sentence.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In rejecting the Petitioner's due process and ex post facto claims, the Second District relied largely on federal case-law, which in turn relied heavily on the federal constitution. However, and despite the Petitioner's request to do so, the Second District failed to address the impact of the Florida Constitution's express right of "privacy²" on the Florida Constitution's protections of due process of law and against ex post facto laws.

² Article I, §23.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT JURISDICTION TO ADDRESS WHETHER THE STATE CONSTITUTION PROVIDES GREATER PROTECTION OF DUE PROCESS AND EX POST FACTO RIGHTS, IN LIGHT OF ARTICLE I, §23, FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, AND AS APPLIED TO THE SEX-OFFENDER REGISTRATION STATUTE(S) AT ISSUE.

This Court should exercise its jurisdiction and accept review of this case because the Second District failed to address the impact of the Florida Constitution's Article I, §23, on the issues raised. That is, unlike the federal constitution, the Florida Constitution (Article I, §23) provides an *express* right of privacy, to wit: that every natural person "has the right to be let alone and *free from governmental intrusion.*" (Emphasis added.)

Having to register as a sex offender under the circumstances present in this case is the quintessence of governmental intrusion. In objecting to that governmental intrusion, the Petitioner cited the due process and ex post facto provisions of both the state and federal constitution. But in its opinion, the Second District relied exclusively on federal case-law. Put another way, the court failed to address the impact of Article I, §23 on the due process and ex post facto provisions of the Florida Constitution.

That is, the Second District relied on two cases from the federal supreme court in finding first that the sex-offender-registration act "did not entitle the defendant to a hearing" - to deter-

mine if he was a danger to the public before being subject to the statutory requirements - and second that because the registration act was "nonpunitive" it did not violate the *federal* "Ex Post Facto clause." See, 851 So. 2d 813, citing Connecticut Department of Public Safety v. Doe, -- U.S. --, 123 S.Ct. 1160 (2003), and Smith v. Doe, - - U.S. --, 123 S.Ct. 1140 (2003), respectively.

However, in Traylor v. State, 596 So. 2d 957 (Fla. 1992), this Honorable Court said that while state courts can't provide *less* protection of individual rights than federal courts, they are free to provide *more* protection, and in doing so held that "state courts and constitutions have traditionally served as the *prime* protectors of their citizens' basic freedoms." (Emphasis added.)

The Petitioner respectfully suggests the same rationale applies here, meaning Florida citizens are entitled to greater protection of their due process rights, and of their right to be free *from* ex post facto laws, based largely on the impact of Article I, §23 on those provisions of the Florida Constitution.

In light of this express protection of freedom from undue governmental intrusion, this Court must determine whether Florida's sex-offender registration act is subject to stricter scrutiny, in order to give effect to *both* Article I, §23, and Article I, §9, providing that no citizen of Florida shall be "deprived of life, liberty or property without due process of law," and Article I, §10, providing that "No bill of attainder, ex post facto law or law impairing the obligation of contracts shall be passed."

It should be noted that in Espindola v. State, 28 Fla. L. Weekly D222 (Fla. 3d DCA January 15, 2003), the Third District Court of Appeal made precisely the kind of finding requested herein. In that case, the Third District ruled that the substantially-similar sexual-predator act violated procedural due process by failing to provide an individualized hearing before imposing the harsh registration and notification requirements.

In his appeal before the Second District, the Petitioner asked that court to find persuasive the reasoning in Espindola, and find in turn that the statute(s) applied below violated procedural due process of law. The court declined to do so, and further declined to expressly certify conflict because Espindola was not yet final.³ Nevertheless, the Petitioner respectfully suggests the reasoning in Espindola is sound and should be adopted by this Court.

In his second issue on appeal, the Petitioner requested the Second District should adopt the reasoning of the federal Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals in Doe v. Otte, 259 F.3d 979 (9th Cir. 2001), in which case the federal court ruled that since the Alaska act at issue increased the punishment for sex offenses, "the Ex Post Facto Clause limits its application to those sex offenders whose crimes were committed after its enactment." The Petitioner then said the same finding was warranted in this case, "for reasons including

³ See Givens, supra, 851 So. 2d 813, citing Milks v. State, 848 So. 2d 1167 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003). In Milks, the Second District Court wrote that as of the date that opinion was issued (May 2, 2003), Espindola "was not a final opinion and therefore may be subject to withdrawal or revision. Accordingly, we decline to certify conflict with that decision."

the express guarantee of privacy set out in Article I, §23, of the Florida Constitution, that every natural person 'has the right to be let alone and free from governmental intrusion.'" Petitioner's initial brief on appeal, page 16.

Accordingly, and as noted above, in denying the Petitioner's prayers for relief the Second District Court of Appeal appeared to rely exclusively on federal case-law, which in turn relied on the federal constitution, which in turn contains neither an express right of privacy nor an express right to be free from undue governmental intrusion. Put another way, the Second District failed to address the impact of Article I, §23 of the Florida Constitution, on that article's sections 9 - providing that no citizen of Florida shall be "deprived of life, liberty or property without due process of law" - and 10, providing that no "ex post facto law ... shall be passed" by the Legislature.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, AND IN light of the foregoing, the Petitioner respectfully requests that this Honorable Court accept jurisdiction and grant review of the opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal in the foregoing cause.