IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT LOUIS GIVENS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

Case No. SC03-1405

L.T. No. 2D02-3084

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM  
THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL  
STATE OF FLORIDA

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR.  
ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS  
Chief-Assistant Attorney General  
Chief of Criminal Law, Tampa  
Florida Bar No. 0238538

Donna S. Koch  
Assistant Attorney General  
Florida Bar No. 0865975  
Concourse Center 4  
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200  
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013  
(813) 287-7900

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In *Givens v. State*, 851 So. 2d 813 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), the Defendant/Petitioner, Robert Louis Givens, appealed his judgment and sentence for failure to register as a sexual offender under § 943.0435, Fla. Stat. (2001). Givens argued the statute violated both procedural due process and ex post facto principles. In affirming Petitioner's judgment and sentence, the Second District Court explained,

Givens argues that the sexual offender registration and notification requirements in sections 943.0435 and 944.607, Florida Statutes (2001), violate procedural due process because he was not afforded a hearing to determine whether he was a danger to the public before being subject to the statutory requirements. After the parties filed their briefs, this court in *Milks v. State*, 848 So. 2d 1167 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), held that the Florida Sexual Predators Act, section 775.21, Florida Statutes (2000), does not violate procedural due process and declined to follow *Espindola v. State*, 28 Fla. L. Weekly D222, \_\_\_ So. 2d \_\_\_, 2003 WL 118634 (Fla. 3d DCA Jan 15, 2003). Givens states in his brief that his argument is the same as in *Espindola*, and he relies on that case to support his position. In *Milks* this court recognized that the United States Supreme Court had recently held in *Connecticut Department of Public Safety v. Doe*, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 123 S.Ct. 1160, 155 L.Ed.2d 98 (2003), that under a Connecticut sexual offender statute, procedural due process "did not entitle the defendant to a hearing to establish whether he or she was dangerous, as that fact was not material under the statute." *Milks*, 848 So. 2d at 1169. The relevant fact is whether the defendant has been convicted of a specific crime, and the defendant is entitled to procedural due process before that conviction is entered. See *id.*

Although *Milks* dealt with the sexual predator, not sexual offender, designation, we note that the sexual predator requirements are more onerous than the sexual offender requirements. Furthermore, the Fifth District has specifically held that the sexual offender registration and notification requirements do not violate procedural due process. See *Johnson v. State*, 795 So. 2d 82, 89 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001). We agree and hold that Givens' procedural due process rights were not violated.

Givens also contends that the sexual offender registration statute violates ex post facto principles because section 943.0435 was enacted after Givens began serving his sentence. Again, after the parties filed their briefs, the United States Supreme Court held in *Smith v. Doe*, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 123 S.Ct. 1140, 155 L.Ed.2d 164 (2003), that the Alaska Sex Offender Registration Act is nonpunitive and that, therefore, its retroactive application does not violate the Ex Post Facto Clause. In addition, the First and Fourth District have held that section 943.0435 is procedural in nature and does not violate the Ex Post Facto Clause. See *Freeland v. State*, 832 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002); *Simmons v. State*, 753 So. 2d 762 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000). We agree and hold that the application of section 943.0435 to Givens does not violate ex post facto principles. Accordingly, we affirm Givens' judgment and sentence for failure to register as a sexual offender.

*Givens*, 851 So. 2d at 814-815

Petitioner now seeks review of the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal in *Givens v. State*, 851 So. 2d 813 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003).

**SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

In *Givens v. State*, 851 So. 2d 813 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), the defendant's dual constitutional challenges to Florida's sexual offender registration act were rejected by the Second District Court. First, the defendant's "procedural due process" claim was rejected by the Second District in *Milks v. State*, 848 So. 2d 1167 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), citing the United States Supreme Court's recent decision in *Connecticut Department of Public Safety v. Doe*, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 123 S.Ct. 1160, 155 L.Ed.2d 98, (2003), and *Johnson v. State*, 795 So. 2d 82 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001). The Second District specifically declined to follow *Espindola v. State*, 28 Fla. L. Weekly D222 (Fla. 3d DCA January 15, 2003). Second, the defendant's ex post facto claim was also rejected in light of *Smith v. Doe*, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 123 S. Ct. 1140, 155 L. Ed. 2d 164 (2003), and Florida district court decisions in *Freeland v. State*, 832 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002) and *Simmons v. State*, 753 So. 2d 762 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000).

This Court should decline to review the Second District Court of Appeal's decision in *Givens* because Petitioner has not demonstrated any basis under the Florida Constitution or the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure for this Court to review the decision of the Second District. Moreover, Petitioner has

failed to identify any misapplication of precedent or defect in the Second District Court's opinion which should be addressed by this Court.

## ARGUMENT

### ISSUE

**THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO EXERCISE ITS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT IN *GIVENS V. STATE*, 851 So. 2d 813 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003) WHICH FOLLOWED *CONNECTICUT DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY V. DOE*, 123 S. Ct. 1160, 155 L. Ed. 2d 98 (2003) and *SMITH V. DOE*, 123 S. Ct. 1140, 155 L. Ed. 2d 164 (2003).**

(As restated by Respondent)

The parameters of the Florida Supreme Court's appellate jurisdiction are set forth in Article V, Section 3, of the Florida Constitution and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A). These sections identify the several bases for this Court's exercise of its discretionary jurisdiction to review district court of appeal decisions, as follows:

- (i) expressly declare valid a state statute;
- (ii) expressly construe a provision of the state or federal constitution;
- (iii) expressly affect a class of constitutional or state officers;
- (iv) expressly and directly conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law;

- (v) pass upon a question certified to be of great public importance;
- (vi) are certified to be in direct conflict with decisions of other district courts of appeal;

Fla. R. App. P. Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)

Petitioner fails to identify any of the conditions set forth in Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A) which would invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction. Rather, he merely re-submits the merits of the argument urged below and contends the appellate court failed to address the impact of the Florida Constitution's express right of privacy on the due process and ex post facto provisions of the Constitution. Thus, Respondent respectfully asks this Court to deny review.

The State recognizes this Court has jurisdiction under Article V, section (3)(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution to review a decision of a district court which "expressly declares valid a state statute." See also Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(i). However, such jurisdiction is not mandatory, but rather discretionary.

In the instant case, the Second District Court affirmed Petitioner's judgement and sentence for failing to register as a sexual offender, and rejected his dual claims that § 943.0435, Fla. Stat. (2001), violates the constitutional principles of

procedural due process and ex post facto. *Givens v. State*, 851 So. 2d 813 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003). The State questions whether the Second District Court "expressly" declared Florida's sexual offender registration act valid. However, the court did reject the dual constitutional challenges to application of Florida's sexual offender registration act to Petitioner, and the rejection of Petitioner's constitutional challenges is in accord with state and federal precedent. Relief was denied on Petitioner's "procedural due process" claim in light of the U.S. Supreme Court's recent decision in *Connecticut Department of Public Safety v. Doe*, \_\_\_U.S.\_\_\_, 123 S. Ct. 1160 , 155 L. Ed. 2d 98,(2003), and Florida district courts of appeal decisions in *Milks v. State*, 848 So. 2d 1167 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), and *Johnson v. State*, 795 So. 2d 82 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001). Relief was denied on Petitioner's "ex post facto" claim in light of the U.S. Supreme Court's recent decision in *Smith v. Doe*, \_\_\_U.S.\_\_\_, 123 S.Ct. 1140, 155 L.Ed.2d 164 (2003), and Florida district courts of appeal decisions in *Freeland v. State*, 832 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002), and *Simmons v. State*, 753 So. 2d 762 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000). While Petitioner complains the Second District relied largely on federal case law which turned heavily on the federal constitution, as shown, this point lacks merit.

Inasmuch as Petitioner has failed to identify any

misapplication of relevant precedent or any particular defect in the Second District's decision which would render this case worthy of review, the State submits Petitioner has failed to demonstrate the instant case warrants further review by this Court.

Most recently, in *Reyes v. State*, 2003 WL 22082192 (Fla. 4th DCA, September 10, 2003), the Fourth District Court cited both *Connecticut Department of Public Safety and Milks* and held Florida's Sexual Predator Act (which is more onerous than the sexual offender registration act at issue here) does not violate procedural due process rights.

Moreover, the Fourth District squarely addressed the question of whether the registration requirements under the Sexual Predator Act violated the petitioner's right to privacy under Article I, §23 of the Florida Constitution, and determined it did not, stating:

As to substantive due process, Reyes claims that the registration requirements under the Act violate his right to privacy under Article I, section 23 of the Florida Constitution. Whether a statute violates the right to privacy requires evaluation under a compelling state interest standard. *Bd. of County Comm'rs of Palm Beach Cty. v. D.B.*, 784 So. 2d 585 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001). In *Doe v. Poritz*, 142 N.J. 1, 662 A.2d 367, 407 (1995), the Supreme Court of New Jersey held that its verison of the Act did not violate an offender's right to privacy

because the information disclosed was public information.

Even assuming, however, that the information disclosed pursuant to the Act is private under the federal or Florida constitutions, the stated and patent public purpose of the Act is a sufficiently compelling state interest justifying such an intrusion on privacy. See *Jackson v. State*, 833 So. 2d 243 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002)...as the state has a compelling interest in notifying the public of the release of sexual predators into their community, we conclude that the Act does not violate the offender's right to privacy.

*Reyes*, 2003 WL 22082192.

Although Petitioner claims the Second District Court failed to address the impact of Article I, §23, on the Florida Constitution's protections of due process of law and against ex post facto laws, it is not clear from Petitioner's initial brief in that court that he expressly raised that issue. The two issues raised in Petitioner's initial brief were whether § 943.0435, Fla. Stat., violated procedural due process or, violated ex post facto principles. Even if the initial brief could be construed as having raised this claim, the argument was not developed. See *Johnson v. State*, 795 So. 2d 82, 90 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001).

Nonetheless, in *Givens v. State*, 851 So. 2d 813, 814 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), the court cited with approval *Johnson v. State*,

795 So. 2d 82 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001), wherein the Fifth District Court adopted the opinion of the trial court which set forth a detailed analysis as to why the notification and registration requirements did not violate the Florida Constitution's express right to privacy. *Id.* at 85-89. Thus, if Petitioner adequately raised the issue before the Second District Court, by that court's citation of *Johnson*, the question was addressed and rejected. Thus, this Court should decline to exercise its discretion on Petitioner's stated basis that the Second District failed to address the impact of Art. I, §23, on Florida's protections of due process of law and against ex post fact laws.

In *Jenkins v. State*, 385 So. 2d 1356, 1357-1358 (Fla. 1980), this Court discussed the creation of the district courts of appeal and quoted from *Ansin v. Thurston*, 101 So. 2d 808, 810 (Fla. 1958):

It was never intended that the district courts of appeal should be intermediate courts. . . . To fail to recognize that these are courts primarily of final appellate jurisdiction and to allow such courts to become intermediate courts of appeal would result in a condition far more detrimental to the general welfare and the speedy and efficient administration of justice than that which the system was designed to remedy.

Ultimately, what has occurred in this case is that one of

the final courts of appellate jurisdiction has simply determined that the legislature has passed a statute which is constitutional. This Court should decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to further review the decision of the Second District Court in *Givens v. State*, 851 So. 2d 813 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003).

**CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing facts, arguments, and citations of authority, the State respectfully requests that this Court deny review in the instant case.